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“Orion failed because its Board of Directors and management did not control the risks 
associated with rapid growth and an extremely high concentration in commercial real 

estate…loans.” 
 

“None of the outside directors had banking experience, and examiners noted that (1) the CEO 
‘does not look to the directorate for support in managing the affairs of the bank,’ and (2) the 

Board of Directors’ oversight was inadequate.” 
 

“ [T]he CEO dominated the bank’s policies and operations and had an annual bonus tied to 
the bank’s earnings growth, which provided an ‘ incentive to delay recognition of problem 

credits [loans] and associated provisions.’” 
 

-- Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, Office of Inspector General (June 2010) 

I.  INTRODUCTION 

1. In a stunning fall from grace, Orion Bank—once considered a fast-rising, stable 

and promising financial institution—crumbled beneath an unsupportable mountain of loan losses 

that eliminated the bank’s earnings, depleted its capital, and ultimately led the Florida Office of 

Financial Regulation to close Orion and appoint the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation as 

receiver.  While Orion may outwardly appear as just another banking casualty of the prolonged 

global recession, in actuality the bank—and in particular its employees and shareholders—fell 

victim to an egregious display of hubris, greed and duplicity. 

2. Led by Jerry Williams—a dominant, lone-wolf Chief Executive Officer—and a 

cadre of absent directors and trustees that gave the CEO carte-blanche to do with the bank as he 

pleased, Orion embarked on a strategy to maximize short-term revenue (to which Williams’ lofty 

bonuses were tied) at the expense of the long-term stability of the bank.  Orion’s directors 

pursued this direction despite repeated warnings and citations from federal authorities to improve 

fundamental aspects of the bank’s business and policies. 

3. Rather than adopting the edicts that regulators suggested and later ordered, 

including Williams’ ouster from his positions with the bank, Orion continued down a deceitful 

path that placed a premium on the CEO’s financial interests.  In so doing, Defendants completely 
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abdicated their responsibilities and violated the most basic tenets of their fiduciary obligations, 

including fiduciary duties owed to the bank’s employees that had invested substantial portions of 

their retirement savings in its common stock.  Orion’s epic collapse resulted in massive losses to 

these employees, some of whom lost their entire retirement savings. 

II.  NATURE OF THE ACTION 

4. Plaintiffs Jeff Smith, Ann Wright, and Pat Miller (“Plaintiffs”) bring this action, 

individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, to recover losses to the Orion Bancorp, 

Inc. Employee Stock Ownership Plan With 401K Provisions (the “Plan”) suffered between 

January 1, 2006 and November 13, 2009 (the “Class Period”). 

5. Class Members worked for Orion Bancorp, Inc. (“Orion” or the “Company”) and 

its wholly-owned subsidiary Orion Bank, Inc. and are Plan participants (and their beneficiaries) 

for whose accounts Plan fiduciaries acquired or held shares of Orion common stock (“Orion 

Stock”) during the Class Period. 

6. During the Class Period, the Plan’s largest investment at all times was in Orion 

Stock.  As of December 31, 2007, more than 96% of the Plan’s assets—$33,666,319—was 

invested in Orion Stock.  Such a large percentage of Plan assets were concentrated in Orion 

Stock because not only did the Company make matching contributions in the Orion Stock 

Fund—Plan participants were pressured to place their investments in the Company’s stock.  

Given that the Defendants, led by Defendant Williams, pressured participants to invest their 

personal contributions in Orion Stock, a large percentage of Plaintiffs’ investments were 

comprised of Orion Stock. 

7. As laid out in more detail below, Defendants knew that Orion was on the brink of 

collapse.  Orion’s Stock was substantially overvalued and in danger of having no value at all 
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since the Company had adopted unsound and improper business practices.  Moreover, as a result 

of Defendants’ illicit course of conduct, there was a high probability that regulators would 

intervene and Orion would fail. 

8. Regulators allege that in June 2009, Orion CEO and founder Jerry Williams 

illegally loaned about $60 million to “straw borrowers” who were fronting for other borrowers 

that had reached their loan limits.  As described more fully below, Defendant Williams made 

these loans in order to remove these non-performing loans from Orion’s books.  Williams knew, 

however, that $15 million from these loans would be used to buy stock in Orion, and he 

intentionally lied about the nature of these loans to government regulators. 

9. In addition, on June 14, 2010, the Office of Inspector General of the Board of 

Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the “Inspector General”) released a Material Loss 

Review of Orion Bank (the “Review”).  As explained in more detail below, the Review describes 

in detail the unsafe and unsound practices of Williams and the Board of Directors in overseeing 

Orion.  The Inspector General completed multiple examinations of Orion, repeatedly implicating 

the Board of Directors and Defendant Williams for their failures in properly addressing the risks 

inherent in Orion’s loan holdings.     

10. The Plan itself was overseen by the Plan Trustees, who were responsible for the 

prudent investment of the Plan.  As the Trustees did not attempt to fulfill their fiduciary 

responsibilities with regards to the Plan, each is named as a Defendant in the current action and 

is jointly and severally liable for the losses they caused to Plan participants. 

11. Orion’s Board of Directors failed especially in upholding their fiduciary duties to 

the Plan, as it never sought to take action to remove the Plan Trustees from their positions in 
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light of their failure to prudently manage the Plan and the presence of regulator investigations, 

despite knowing that the Company was largely undercapitalized and on the verge of collapse.  

12. Whereas shares of Orion Stock were valued during the Class Period as high as 

$48.00 per share on September 30, 2007, and $55.00 on December 31, 2008, in reality Orion 

Stock was utterly worthless as the Defendants caused the Company to adopt undisclosed 

business and lending practices that ultimately led to its downfall.  As a result of Defendants’ 

course of conduct, Orion was taken over by the Federal Deposit Insurance Company (“FDIC”) 

on November 13, 2009.  Thus, as a result of Defendants’ breaches of fiduciary duty, the Plan has 

suffered massive losses on its investment in Orion Stock; the Plan participants have lost a 

substantial portion, if not all, of their retirement savings; and the Company was taken over by the 

FDIC and its assets sold off.  Plan fiduciaries failed in protecting Plan accounts.   

13. As detailed below, all of the Defendants breached their fiduciary duties to the 

Plan and its participants/beneficiaries in several inter-related ways: (a) by offering and 

continuing to offer Orion Stock as a retirement investment when they knew or had reason to 

know that Orion Stock was not a prudent investment because Orion was on the brink of collapse; 

(b) failing to take steps to have Orion Stock removed as a Plan investment option when they 

knew or had reason to know that Orion Stock was not a prudent investment because Orion was 

on the brink of collapse; (c) failing to limit the Plan’s over-concentration in Orion Stock, and 

Plan participants’ over-concentration in Orion Stock, when they knew or had reason to know that 

Orion Stock was not a prudent investment because Orion was on the brink of collapse; (d) failing 

to provide complete, accurate and prudent investment advice and communications to Plan 

participants that disclosed material facts concerning investment in Orion Stock; and (e) failing to 
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make fiduciary decisions for the exclusive benefit of the Plan and its participants and 

beneficiaries. 

III.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

14. Subject Matter Jurisdiction .  This is a civil enforcement action for breach of 

fiduciary duty brought pursuant to section ERISA § 502(a), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a) and 29 U.S.C. 

§1109(a).  This Court has original, exclusive subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant 

to ERISA § 502(e)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(e)(1).  In addition, this Court has subject matter 

jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, the general jurisdictional statute for “civil actions 

arising under the ... laws … of the United States.” 

15. Personal Jurisdiction.  ERISA provides for nationwide service of process.  

ERISA § 502(e)(2), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(e)(2).  All Defendants are residents of the United States, 

and this Court therefore has personal jurisdiction over them.  This Court also has personal 

jurisdiction over them pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(k)(I)(A), because they would be subject to 

the jurisdiction of a court of general jurisdiction in the State of Florida. 

16. Venue.  Venue is properly laid in this District pursuant to ERISA § 502(e)(2), 29 

U.S.C. § 1l32(e)(2), because the Plan was administered in this District, some or all of the 

fiduciary breaches for which relief is sought occurred in this District, and one or more of the 

Defendants may be found in this District.  Venue is also proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. 

§1391(b) and (c), because some of the Defendants, including Orion, reside in this District, 

Orion’s principal executive office during the Class Period was located in this District, and Orion 

systematically and continuously engaged in business in this District during the Class Period. 
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IV.  PARTIES 

A. Plaintiffs 

17. Plaintiff Jeff Smith (“Smith”) is a participant in the Plan within the meaning of 

ERISA § 3(7), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(7), whose retirement savings in the Plan included Orion Stock. 

18. Plaintiff Ann Wright (“Wright”) is a participant in the Plan within the meaning of 

ERISA § 3(7), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(7), whose retirement savings in the Plan included Orion Stock. 

19. Plaintiff Pat Miller (“Miller”) is a participant in the Plan within the meaning of 

ERISA § 3(7), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(7), whose retirement savings in the Plan included Orion Stock. 

20. Plaintiffs Smith, Wright, and Miller are sometimes collectively referred to herein 

as “Plaintiffs.” 

B. Defendants 

i. The Trustee Defendants 

21. Defendant Jerry Williams (“Williams”) was a Trustee of the Plan, as well as 

President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board of Orion, during the Class Period. 

22. Defendant Stacy Byers (“Byers”) was the former Chief People Officer at Orion 

and a Trustee of the Plan during the Class Period. 

23. Defendant Carla Pollard (“Pollard”) was the former Chief Financial Officer of 

Orion and a Trustee of the Plan during the Class Period. 

24. Defendants Williams, Byers and Pollard are sometimes collectively referred to as 

the “Trustee Defendants.” 

25. As Plan Trustees, the Trustee Defendants were designated as named fiduciaries of 

the Plan and administrators of the Plan pursuant to ERISA § 3(16)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(16)(A), 
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and pursuant to Section 18 of the Plan.  Moreover, the Trustee Defendants were fiduciaries of the 

Plan pursuant to ERISA § 3(21), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21). 

ii. The Director Defendants  

26. Defendant Williams served as a Director of Orion during the Class Period.  

Williams was a fiduciary of the Plan because he served on the Board of Orion. 

27. Defendant Brian Schmitt (“Schmitt”) was a Director of Orion during the Class 

Period.  Schmitt is a fiduciary of the Plan because he served on the Board of Orion. 

28. Defendant Earl Holland (“Holland”) was a Director of Orion during the Class 

Period.  Holland resides in Fort Meyers and is a fiduciary of the Plan because he served on the 

Board of Orion. 

29. Defendant James Torok (“Torok”) was a Director of Orion during the Class 

Period.  Torok resides in Sarasota and is a fiduciary of the Plan because he served on the Board 

of Orion. 

30. Defendant Alan Pratt (“Pratt”) was a Director of Orion during the Class Period.  

Pratt resides in Vero Beach and is a fiduciary of the Plan because he served on the Board of 

Orion. 

31. James Aultman (“Aultman”) was a Director of Orion during the Class Period.  

Aultman is a fiduciary of the Plan because he served on the Board of Orion.  

32. Defendants Williams, Schmitt, Holland, Torok, Pratt, and Aultman are sometimes 

collectively referred to herein as “Director Defendants.” 
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33. The Trustee Defendants and the Director Defendants are sometimes collectively 

referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.” 

C. Non Party Actors 

34. Orion was the sponsor of the Plan pursuant to ERISA § 3(16)(B), 29 U.S.C. § 

1002(16)(B).  Orion was also the Plan Administrator pursuant to §414(g) of the Internal Revenue 

Code and ERISA § 3(16)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1102(16)(A).  Orion was incorporated in Florida, and 

its corporate headquarters were located at 2150 Goodlette Road North, Naples, Florida, 34102. 

V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Background of Orion 

35. Founded in the Florida Keys in 1977, Orion became a state-chartered member 

bank in 2002 through the merger of two national banks—First National Bank of the Florida Keys 

and Gulf Coast National Bank.  Headquartered in Naples, Florida, Orion had as many as 24 

branch offices in Southwest Florida, the Florida Keys, and Palm Beach County.  Orion grew to 

become the largest privately held community bank in Southwest Florida and the second largest 

community bank in the state.  Throughout the Class Period, the Company’s principal source of 

cash flow, including cash flow to pay dividends on its stock, was from its principal subsidiary, 

Orion Bank. 

36. Orion was one of the most profitable banks in Florida, consistently providing 

returns on equity of around 20 percent.  Orion grew to become a major player in the Florida 

banking industry through a complete emphasis on an aggressive lending philosophy focused on 

providing high-risk commercial real estate (“CRE”) loans, and in particular loans for acquisition, 

development and construction (“ADC”). 
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37. The Company spent years marketing itself as the banking institution that put the 

customer at the center of every aspect of its business.  In reality, Defendant Williams and a large 

supporting cast of enablers—including a submissive Board of Directors and Trustees—pursued 

an illegal, wrongful and wayward course of conduct that aimed to secure financial benefits for 

management over the long-term health and stability of the Company, all to the detriment of the 

members of the Plan. 

B. The Plan 

38. The Plan was a defined contribution and individual account plan.  Employees that 

were eligible to participate in the Plan had to become a participant on the January 1st, April 1st, 

July 1st, or October 1st following completion of six months of service, conditioned on the 

employee having attained age 18 and also being employed in a position requiring at least 1,000 

hours of service for that year (“Plan Participant” or “Participant”). 

39. The Trust was established for the purpose of holding the Plan’s assets.  Trustees 

were responsible for the investment of the Trust’s assets, including all purchases of Company 

stock.  Trustees were elected annually by the Company.   

40. Initially, with the Administrator’s consent, Plan participants could also contribute 

to the plan through rollover contributions.  Any employee of the Company was allowed to 

rollover contributions from another qualified plan.  According to Plan documents, both salary 

deduction contributions and rollover contributions were fully vested at all times.  Beginning in 

August 2004, however, rollover contributions from other qualified plans were not allowed to be 

invested in Company stock. 

41. The Company made three different types of contributions under the Plan.  First, 

the Company could make Basic Contributions, whereby it could decide to contribute any amount 
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to the Plan.  This amount was allocated to each Participant’s account based on his or her 

compensation (relative to all Participants’ compensation). 

42. Second, the Company could make Optional Contributions, whereby it could 

decide to invest the contribution primarily in Company stock.  A Plan Participant’s balance in 

this account would not be vested at all times, rather it would be vested according to the following 

schedules: 

a. Participants with an hour of service after 2001: 

Plan Years of Credited Service Vested Percentage 

Less than Two Years 0% 

Two Years 20% 

Three Years  40% 

Four Years 60% 

Five Years 80% 

Six Years or More 100% 

 

b. Participants with three or more years of credited service prior to 2002 

vested under the following schedule: 

Plan Years of Credited Service Vested Percentage 

Less than Two Years 0% 

Two Years 20% 

Three Years  40% 

Four Years 60% 

Five Years 100% 
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c. Participants without an hour of service after 2001 also vested according to 

the following: 

Plan Years of Credited Service Vested Percentage 

Less than Five Years 0% 

Five Years or More 100% 

 

43. Third, the Company could make Matching Contributions, whereby it would match 

the Plan Participant’s salary reduction contribution by contributing up to $0.50 for every $1.00 

up to 10% that the Participant contributed.  The Company paid all matching contributions with 

Orion stock. 

44. The Plan provided that the Company matched up to 10% of each Participant’s 

compensation.  Plan documents stated that Orion’s actual matching contribution could be equal 

to or less than 100% in any given Plan year. 

45. As Orion matched all contributions in Orion Stock, Plan Participants were heavily 

encouraged to maintain their investments in the Company’s stock.  Defendant Williams 

maintained a document in his desk drawer listing Orion employees and detailing their 

investments in Orion Stock.  Defendant Williams discouraged employees from investing in the 

American Funds (described below) rather than Company stock. As a result, virtually all of the 

Plan Participants’ retirement funds were invested in only Orion stock. 

46. The Company’s contributions were forwarded to the Trustees for investment.  All 

trust assets other than the Participants’ salary reduction contributions were invested by the Plan 

Trustee in Orion stock.  However, Participants were able to direct the Trustees to invest existing 
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401(k) and salary reduction accounts, in which case the Trustees would invest up to 100% of the 

contributions into Orion Stock. 

47. According to the Plan documents, the Trustees also invested a small percentage of 

Trust assets in funds such as the “General Investment Fund” and “Any other Fund which the 

Trustees may establish from time to time.” 

48. The Plan Participant Statement (the “Statement”) was divided into only three 

different accounts: (i) Orion Bancorp Stock Fund accounts (“Orion Stock Fund Accounts”), (ii) 

Orion Bancorp Share accounts (“Orion Share Accounts”), and (iii) American Funds accounts 

(“American Accounts”). 

49. The Orion Stock Fund Accounts represented funds available to purchase stock.  

These accounts contained salary deferral contributions available solely for the purchase of Orion 

stock.  The Company matched 50% of eligible contributions on the first 10% deferred by 

continuing participants. 

50. The Orion Share Accounts represented actual shares of employer stock purchased 

on behalf of Plan participants.  The Statement segmented purchases of Orion Stock into 

“Employee Deferral” shares, “Employee Rollover” shares, and “Employer Match” shares.   

51. The American Accounts merely provided summaries of a Participant’s investment 

activity with American Funds.   

C. Orion’s High-Risk Growth Strategy 

52. Orion operated statewide through subsidiaries as a Florida bank.  Orion 

aggressively expanded its CRE and ADC loan portfolios in the south Florida market from 2004 

through 2006.  Orion’s business strategy, which the Inspector General’s Review of the Company 

described as being “dominated” and “heavily influenced” by Defendant Williams, focused on 
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aggressive growth in the bank’s loan portfolio.  Defendant Williams so heavily dominated the 

Company that, multiple times during the Class Period, he was overheard telling employees that 

“I am the Board of Directors,” and “the Board of Directors serves at my pleasure.” 

53. Orion’s growth was driven primarily by CRE loans, particularly ADC loans tied 

to the residential real estate market.  The growth in CRE and ADC loans was attributed to an 

expanding south Florida real estate market.  Orion’s aggressive growth led to high concentrations 

in risky CRE and ADC loans.  In general, credit concentrations increase a financial institution's 

vulnerability to changes in the marketplace and compound the risks inherent in individual loans.  

Here, Orion’s CRE loan concentration was approximately 700 percent of total risk-based capital 

in 2006 and reached 739 percent of total risk-based capital by December 31, 2008, which was 

well above the peer group industry standard. 

54. Between 2005 and 2007, the decline in the Florida real estate market led to 

deteriorating asset quality and significant losses, particularly in the ADC portfolio.  The 

Inspector General’s Review of Orion emphasized that the Company’s Board of Directors and 

executive management was squarely responsible for the degradation in Orion’s finances: 

Orion’s Board of Directors and management failed to recognize the extent of the 
local real estate market downturn and were slow to identify problem loans.  As a 
result, examiners frequently disagreed with management’s loan grading decisions 
and downgraded a substantial number of loans, particularly in the ADC portfolio.  
Nevertheless, management did not strengthen its credit underwriting practices to 
account for the market downturn, and renewed or extended loans using the 
original terms despite clear declines in the value of underlying projects and 
deteriorating real estate market conditions.  Examiners noted that many of these 
loans were kept current with bank funded interest reserves, so the level of past 
due loans was understated. 
 
55. Mounting loan losses as a result of executive management’s actions, combined 

with the real estate downturn, eliminated Orion’s earnings and depleted capital.  Management’s 
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failures ultimately led the Florida Office of Financial Regulation (“OFR”) to close Orion and 

appoint the FDIC as receiver on November 13, 2009.   

D. Defendants’ Wrongful Course of Conduct 

56. At the direction of Defendant Williams, Orion issued approximately $60 million 

of illegal loans to “straw borrowers” in the summer of 2009, including loans to an individual 

named Frank Muletto.  These loan funds were used by the recipients to purchase Orion’s non-

performing assets in order to remove those non-performing assets from Orion’s books.  

Defendant Williams knew that these loans were made without adequate underwriting standards.  

Williams also lied to regulators as to whether he knew that an additional $15 million in loans 

was used to buy stock in Orion. 

57. These loans could only have been made by Defendant Williams, with the 

approval and backing of the other Individual Defendants.  Throughout the Class Period, 

Williams maintained a strict demarcation between “executive” management and “senior” 

management.  Those in executive management, who held titles of “Executive VP” or above, 

were few in number and included each of the Trustee Defendants. 

58. During the Class Period, the Senior VPs of commercial and residential lending 

were authorized to only approve loans of up to $1 million.  Any loans in excess of $1 million and 

any exceptions to the loan policy had to be approved by executive management.  It was not until 

August 2008—in response to the Federal Reserve’s August 25 Order (described more fully 

below)—that loan committees were formed.  The Senior VPs of commercial and residential 

lending were not voting members of these committees.  Further, these committee meetings were 

often perfunctory, and loans in excess of $3 million still required the approval of Company 

executives. 
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59. The FDIC’s 2007 Consolidated Report of Condition and Income (the “2007 Call 

Report”) showed the influence of the declining loan market on the Company.  It showed that the 

Company posted a loss of $6,092,000, a loan loss provision of $60,658,000, and charge offs 

totaling $3,390,000.  Despite these clear losses, however, the Company paid out approximately 

$28 million in dividends, of which approximately $7.5 million was paid to shareholders.  

Defendant Williams was the Company’s largest shareholder, owning at least 798,000 shares, and 

thus stood to receive the bulk of the dividend proceeds.  Although imprudent to do so given the 

substantial losses the Company was experiencing, Williams used the dividend payout as a means 

of extracting cash from his investment in Orion. 

60. Other indications that something was awry at the Company were evident as well.  

For example, Note 1 in the December 31, 2007 and 2006 Financial Statements to the Plan (the 

“2007 and 2006 Statements”) describes Orion’s “put” option as follows: 

Put Option: Under Federal income tax regulations, the employer stock that is held 
by the Plan and its participants and is not readily tradable on an established 
market, or is subject to trading limitations includes a put option.  The put option is 
a right to demand that the Company buy any shares of its stock distributed to 
participants for which there is no market.  The put price is representative of the 
fair market value of the stock.  The Company can pay for the purchase with 
interest over a period of five years.  The purpose of the put option is to ensure 
that the participant has the ability to ultimately obtain cash.  

 
(Emphasis added) 

 
61. However, the 2007 and 2006 Statements also stated that the put option was no 

longer a viable shareholder mechanism: 

In addition, the Company is under a written agreement with its primary regulators 
effective February 2008.  Currently, the Company is not permitted to purchase 
any of its common stock without prior regulatory approval which could extend the 
time period the Company has to honor the put option of Plan participants 
associated with distributions of Company common stock from the Plan. 
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62. Questions about Orion’s stability also arose during the end of 2007, when the 

Company reported in its December quarterly report that its non-current loans increased $2.1 

million from the corresponding quarter last year, to $91.7 million—constituting a 4,267% 

increase.   

63. An April 7, 2008 HeraldTribune.com news article titled “Lender watches its loans 

go south,” indicated that Orion also failed to take protective measures in response to the 

increases in its non-current loan accounts: 

Orion reported $91.7 million in non-current loans in its December quarterly 
report, a 4,267 percent increase from the $2.1 million in problem loans it reported 
during the same quarter a year earlier.   
 
Orion, however, did not increase its loan loss reserves by a similar amount.  The 
money the bank set aside to deal with problem loans only increased by $1.03 
million, or 10 percent, to $12.39 million in the fourth quarter of 2007 from $11.36 
million in the same period a year earlier. 
 
Why Orion opted against a larger increase in reserves is unclear… 
 
In September, Orion’s reserves of $12.77 million exceeded its $11.4 million in 
problem loans.  But just three months later, its $12.39 million in reserves 
represented only 13.5 percent of its $91.68 million in problem loans. 

  
64. In a stunning display of greed and hubris, and in complete violation of his 

fiduciary duties to the Plan and Plan participants, in June 2008, Defendant Williams sold 18,182 

shares of his personal Orion Stock to the Plan at $55 per share, totaling approximately $1 

million.  With no money to buy the shares, Defendant Williams caused the Plan to borrow this 

money and go into debt to buy his shares.  At the same time that Defendant Williams caused the 

Plan to borrow $1 million to buy his personal shares, one of Orion’s directors also caused the 

Plan to buy back 2,000 of the director’s personal shares, worth approximately $110,000.  The 

Plan was also forced to borrow money to buy the director’s shares. 
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65. On June 17, 2008, Defendant Williams sent a letter to the Company’s 

shareholders (the “6/17/08 Letter”), which reassured them that Orion would not be exposed to 

negative repercussions as a result of impaired loans and implied that a suspension of dividend 

payments was a recourse which the Company unilaterally decided upon: 

I want to take this opportunity to tell you about the success Orion Bancorp, Inc. 
has achieved in the past few months while navigating through these challenging 
times.  Orion’s Net Income for the quarter ending March 31, 2008 was $5.3 
million.  Earnings per common share were $0.95.  The Return on Average Equity 
(ROAE) for the three-months ending March 31, 2008 remained strong at 17%.  
Finally, Total Assets grew to over $3 billion at the end of April 2008.   
 
Orion’s management team forecasts another profitable year in 2008, with an 
expectation of achieving a ROAE that again, is one of the highest in the country. 
 
We have been aggressive in dealing with any problem loans and are fortunate 
that Orion has no credit exposure to sub-prime borrowers which has been one 
of the main culprits for losses reported in the financial industry. 
 
Our financial results have been and continue to be strong; however, the current 
turmoil in the financial and credit markets has created a difficult environment 
for all institutions.  In times like these, it is more prudent to build reserve for 
loan losses and continue to build upon our already strong capital position.  In 
order to ensure against the unknown, the temporary suspension of cash 
dividends is the wisest action to take. 
 
Accordingly, Orion’s Board of Directors has decided to take the prudent step of 
temporarily suspending our cash dividends at this time.  The Board will continue 
to monitor the economic environment to ensure Orion maintains its strong 
financial foundation. 
 
As one of the top financial institutions of its kind in the nation, look for Orion 
Bank to continue the sensible and strategic growth that has characterized our three 
decades of industry-leading performance.  As always, thank you for your support. 

 
(Emphasis added) 
 

66. The 6/17/08 Letter failed to disclose the extent to which the loan loss reserves 

were underfunded, and the dire situation in which the Company found itself as a result. 
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67. Moreover, on August 13, 2008, Williams sent another letter to shareholders (the 

“8/13/08 Letter”), in which he discussed the Company’s loan loss ratio: 

…[I]n over 31 years in business, Orion Bank has gained a deserved reputation as 
a leading financial institution.  Although Florida and the nation continue to 
experience a severe level of stress in the economy, Orion continues to be ranked 
in the top 1% of U.S. banks and thrifts for financial performance for the seventh 
consecutive year.  In addition to being rated the 16th best performing bank in the 
entire country, Orion continues to remain #1 in the State of Florida. 
 
I am writing to you today to let you know that despite this difficult operating 
environment, Orion Bank continues to have strong core earnings and our 
risked based capital ratio is in the highest regulatory category, classified as 
‘well capitalized’.  Furthermore, we have built our loan loss reserve to over 3% 
of total loans – again, one of the strongest in the country.   
 
While no one can predict the length of the current downturn, let me assure you 
that with our superior financial capacity and our talented management team, we 
are more than capable of weathering this storm.  Our capital position, operating 
performance, and substantial reserve for credit losses (together with FDIC 
insurance) make Orion one of the safest places to have your deposits.  
Additionally, our liquidity is currently in excess of $650 million.   
 
You are important to Orion Bank.  We sincerely appreciate your unwavering 
support and you can be confident that Orion is, and will continue to be, one of the 
safest banks in the country. 

 
(Emphasis Added). 
 

68. Despite the 8/13/08 Letter’s representations that Orion “continues to have strong 

core earnings” and that its “risked based capital ratio is in the highest regulatory category, 

classified as ‘well capitalized,’” on August 25, 2008, twelve days after Williams issued the 

8/13/08 Letter, the Federal Reserve issued an Order requiring, among other things, that the 

Company stop issuing dividends (the “8/25/08 Order”). 

69. The 8/25/08 Order instituted Federal Reserve supervision over multiple aspects of 

Orion’s business, including but not limited to: (i) Board Oversight, (ii) Concentrations of Credit, 

(iii) Lending and Credit Administration, (iv) Asset Improvement, (v) Allowance for Loan and 

Case 2:10-cv-00339-JES-DNF   Document 34    Filed 08/11/10   Page 19 of 47 PageID 383



19 

Lease Losses, (vi) Capital Planning, (vii) Liquidity/Funds Management, (viii) Dividends, (ix) 

Compliance with Laws and Regulations, (x) Approval and Implementation of Plans, Policies, 

Procedures and Program, and (xi) Progress Reports. 

70. The 8/25/08 Order provides the following regarding the treatment of dividends: 

15.  (a) Orion and the Bank shall not declare or pay any dividends unless such 
declaration or payment is consistent with the Board of Governors’ Policy 
Statement on the Payment of Cash Dividends by State Member Banks and Bank 
Holding Companies, dated November 14, 1985 (Federal Reserve Regulatory 
Service, 4-877 at page 4-323).  During the term of this Agreement, Orion and the 
Bank shall also not declare or pay any dividends without the prior written 
approval of the Reserve Bank and the Director of the Division of Banking 
Supervision and Regulation of the Board of Governors (“Director”).  During the 
term of this Agreement, the Bank shall also not declare or pay any dividends 
without prior written approval of the Division. 
 
 (b) Orion shall not take any dividends or any other form of payment 
representing a reduction in capital from the Bank without the prior written 
approval of the Reserve Bank.  
 
 (c) During the term of this Agreement, Orion and its nonbank subsidiaries 
shall not make any distributions of interest, principal or other sums on 
coordinated debentures or trust preferred securities without the prior written 
approval of the Reserve Bank and the Director. 
 

(d)…The Reserve Bank and Director will determine whether to approve a 
request to pay dividends or distributions pursuant to Federal Reserve policy. 

 
71. The 8/25/08 Order also discussed Orion’s reserve calculation methodology, 

otherwise known as its “ALLL” methodology. 

72. In a June 2003 article from MoneyWatch.com titled “Loan loss provisioning for 

community banks,” author Kathleen Beans describes what the federal government looks for in an 

ALLL methodology: 

The ground rules consist of two components.  A reserve should be established 
when it appears probable that a loss will be incurred and that the loss is estimable, 
and reserves should be established for loans that are impaired. 
 
ALLL Methodology.  We are looking for three things in ALLL methodology: 
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1. Policies and procedures that describe how a bank segments its portfolio. 

 
2. Policies and procedures for determining how to measure the impairment of 

those loans that are individually evaluated, as per FAS 114. 
 

3. A methodology for how to determine and measure the impairment in groups 
of loans or portfolios of loans with similar characteristics as required under 
FAS 5. 

 
73. In terms of allowances for loan and lease losses and the ALLL methodology 

employed by Orion, the 8/25/08 Order stated, in relevant part: 

10. (a) Within 10 days of this Agreement, the Bank shall eliminate from its 
books, by charge-off or collection, all assets or portions of assets classified “loss” 
in the Report of Examination that have not been previously collected in full or 
charged off.  Thereafter the Bank shall within 30 days from the receipt of any 
federal or state report of examination, charge off all assets classified “loss” unless 
otherwise approved in writing by the Reserve Bank and the Division. 
 
 (b) Within 60 days of this Agreement, the Bank shall review and revise its 
ALLL methodology consistent with relevant supervisory guidance, including the 
Interagency Policy Statements on the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses, 
dated July 2, 2001 and December 13, 2006, and the findings and 
recommendations regarding the ALLL set forth in the Report of Examination, and 
submit a description of the revised methodology to the Reserve Bank and the 
Division.  The revised ALLL methodology shall be designed to maintain an 
adequate ALLL and shall address, consider, and include at a minimum, the 
reliability of the Bank’s loan grading system, the volume of criticized loans, 
concentrations of credit, the current level of past due and nonperforming loans, 
past loan loss experience, evaluation of probable losses in the Bank’s loan 
portfolio, including adversely classified loans, and the impact of market 
conditions on loan and collateral valuations and collectability. 
 
 (c) Within 60 days of this Agreement, the Bank shall adopt a written 
program for the maintenance of an adequate ALLL.  The program shall include 
policies and procedures to ensure adherence to the revised ALLL methodology 
and provide for periodic reviews and updates to the ALLL methodology, as 
appropriate.  The program shall also provide for a review of the ALLL by the 
board of directors on at least a quarterly calendar basis.  Any deficiency found in 
the ALLL shall be remedied in the quarter it is discovered, prior to the filing of 
the Consolidated Reports of Condition and Income, by additional provisions.  The 
board of directors shall maintain written documentation of its review, including 
the factors considered and conclusions reached by the Bank in determining the 
adequacy of the ALLL.  During the term of this Agreement, the Bank shall submit 
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to the Reserve Bank and the Division, within 30 days after the end of each 
calendar quarter, a written report regarding the board of directors’ quarterly 
review of the ALLL and a description of any changes to the methodology used in 
determining the amount of ALLL for that quarter. 

 
74. A September 11, 2008 article entitled “Regulators FLEX their muscles” from the 

Gulf Coast Business Review, also discussed the 8/25/08 Order: 

Regulators won’t discuss their enforcement action with Orion.  And Jerry 
Williams, the bank’s chairman, chief executive officer and president, sounds 
conciliatory, insisting the regulators aren’t out of line and that his bank has taken 
all of the necessary steps to comply. 
 
*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 
 
Orion Bank and its holding company, Orion Bancorp, entered into what’s called a 
“written agreement” with the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta and Florida’s 
Office of Financial Regulation on Aug. 25. 
 
The 15-page agreement reads like a laundry list of banking must-dos, from 
submitting a capital plan to mitigating the bank’s concentration in commercial 
real estate lending (see box). “The agreement speaks for itself,” says Jean Tate, a 
spokeswoman for the Federal Reserve. 
 
*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 
 
Williams says the issues that regulators cited in their agreement have all been 
addressed. What’s more, a “written agreement” is the weakest of all forms of 
enforcement actions. Stricter actions include “cease and desist” orders, removal 
and prohibition orders and orders assessing civil money penalties. “There’s 
nothing punitive,” Williams says of the agreement. 
 
*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 
 
Williams says regulators never sought a harsher cease and desist order against the 
bank. Neither did they require a review or replacement of management nor did 
they demand an injection of capital. Expansion plans aren’t on hold, either: 
“We’re about to open our 23rd office in North Palm Beach,” he says. 
 
*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 
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75. On November 5, 2008, a valuation report (the “2008 Valuation Report”) of the 

Company was performed by the investment bank of Hoefer & Arnett.  In that report, Orion’s 

stock was valued at $32.00 per share as of September 30, 2008.   

76. The 2008 Valuation Report referred to the availability of Orion’s “put” option in 

assessing the fair market value of the Company’s stock: 

Several empirical studies over the past 25 years have implied that common stocks 
of privately held firms trade between 20% and 50% less than the fair market value 
of a freely traded public company… 
 
The discount for the lack of marketability found in these studies is partially offset 
by the particular attributes of an employee stock ownership plan.  The plan 
sponsor, the Company, must make a market for the common stock.  This 
requirement to make a market for the stock is generally called the “put” option, 
which means that the plan participants may “put” or sell their stock back to the 
Company.  As a result of the put option, the potential discount for lack of 
marketability is reduced. 
 
After reviewing the attributes specific to the Company such as its asset size, 
location and the “put option”, we believe that no discount for lack of 
marketability is necessary.   
 
77. However, as stated above, as of February 2008 regulators had already prohibited 

the Company from exercising the put option in any form.  Despite this, the 2008 Valuation 

Report states that no discount was applied in the fair market valuation of the Company’s stock 

due to the presence of that put option—a factor that should have been considered in evaluating 

the fair market value of the Company’s stock. 

78. Despite the bleak financial condition of the Company, Williams continued to 

falsely assure investors that everything was running smoothly.  For example, on November 28, 

2008, Williams issued another letter to Plan Participants (the “11/28/08 Letter”), which stated: 

As a participant in the Orion Bancorp KSOP, you know that historically, Orion 
stock has performed well over the years.  Despite the current economic 
environment, our earnings exceed the prevailing levels for Florida banks, and we 
continue to remain well capitalized… 
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We want you to know the KSOP’s trustees are working hard to keep the KSOP 
running smoothly and treat all participants fairly.  To insure that all transactions 
are based on current values, the KSOP’s trustees obtained a current appraisal 
value from an independent appraiser.  This is the best indicator of value in the 
absence of an active trading market… 
 
…Orion’s stock’s ten year cumulative return is over 325% and our five year rate 
of return is over 114%... 

 
79. On April 30, 2009, the FDIC published its Consolidated Report of Condition and 

Income for Orion for the quarter ending December 31, 2008 (the “12/31/08 Call Report”), 

showing that the Company had: (i) overall losses of $20,464,000, (ii) loan loss provisions of 

$54,650,000, (iii) charge offs of $68,254,000, and (iv) a balance of $54,396,000. 

80. According to an article published in the Gulf Coast Business Review on 

November 19, 2009 titled “Orion’s Fallen Star,” by the summer of 2009, the Company’s 

financial situation had deteriorated further: 

By the summer of 2009, delinquent borrowers pushed problem loans at Orion to 
11% of total loans, nearly double the amount from the same time in 2008. To 
account for those delinquent loans, Orion had to set aside reserves that took away 
from the bottom line. As of June 30, Orion had posted net operating losses of 
$11.6 million for the year to date. 
 
While it’s impossible to determine the quality of Orion’s loans without reviewing 
the loan documents, it’s safe to say that the real estate downturn was the main 
cause of Orion’s collapse. As of June 30, 93% of Orion’s $1.9 billion in loans 
were tied to real estate. Of those, $732 million were in construction and 
development and $526 million were in commercial real estate — both of which 
have been hammered in the recession. 
 
Orion aggressively pursued delinquent borrowers in court, but it wasn’t successful 
in recovering much money. In fact, Orion didn’t recover any money for the 
quarter ending June 30 and just $88,000 in the quarter ending Sept. 30. 

 
81. The FDIC also published its Consolidated Report of Condition and Income on 

Orion for the quarter ending September 9, 2009 (the “9/9/09 Call Report”), which showed that 
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the Company had: (i) overall losses of $83,944,000, (ii) loan loss provisions of $123,268,000, 

(iii) charge offs of $85,144,000, and (iv) a balance of $92,608,000.   

82. On September 18, 2009, the Federal Reserve and the Florida banking regulators 

issued a Cease and Desist Order on the Company (the “Cease & Desist Order”), the harshest 

form of enforcement.  The Cease & Desist Order stated in relevant part: 

• The Company had not fully complied with the Written Agreement 
as found in the 8/25/08 Order; 
 

• The Company had entered into unsafe and unsound practices; 
 

• Within 30 days of the date of the Cease & Desist Order, the boards 
of directors of Orion and Orion Bank had to conduct a review of 
the effectiveness of the Company and Orion Bank’s corporate 
governance and management structure, including but not limited 
to:  
 
a. Reviews of the qualifications and performances of each of 

the Bank’s senior executive officers, 
 

b. Assessments of the current structure, qualifications, and 
composition of the boards of directors and the Bank’s 
committees, and 
 

c. Development of a formal management succession plan for 
all executive management positions; 
 

• The Company must provide regulators with an accurate accounting 
of nonaccrual loans and leases in the Bank’s loan portfolio; and 
 

• The Company must provide regulators with an accurate accounting 
of impaired loans, taking into account (i) examination 
classifications, (ii) external loan grades by a qualified consultant, 
and (iii) internal loan grading based on an effective internal loan 
review function. 

 
83. As a result of the Cease and Desist Order, regulators forced the Company to 

reclassify its bad loans as Orion set aside $123 million for loan losses in the third quarter ending 
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September 30, 2009.  That provision led to the Company suffering a third quarter net loss of 

nearly $84 million. 

84. On November 9, 2009 the Federal Reserve issued a Prompt Corrective Action 

Directive on the Company (the “Corrective Action Directive”), in which regulators stated the 

following fact and demands: 

(D)  In order to improve its management, the Bank must dismiss Jerry Williams, 
its current chief executive officer, president, and chairman of its board of 
directors, from office and as a member of the board of directors, based on the 
following: 
 

(a) Prior to June 2009, the Bank reached its legal lending limit under Florida law 
with respect to aggregate loans outstanding to a borrower and his related 
interest.  In June 2009, Williams permitted the Bank to make loans of an 
additional approximately $60 million to straw borrowers who were related 
interests of the borrower referred to above in continuing violation of the 
Florida legal lending limit statute (the “June 2009 loans”); 
 

(b) The June 2009 loans referred to above, which were made to enable the 
borrowers to purchase certain low quality assets from the Bank, were 
underwritten in an unsafe and unsound manner.  The loans were made 
without adequate analysis of the borrowers’ creditworthiness, capacity for 
repayment, and valuation of collateral offered in support of the loans.  Further, 
the loans were structured in a manner to make it appear that the Bank was 
reducing its level of classified assets; 

 
(c) The Bank needed additional capital as of June 30, 2009, to avoid being less 

than well capitalized.  Williams had knowledge that $15 million of loan 
proceeds from the June 2009 loans referred to above were to be used to 
purchase common and preferred stock issued by Orion Bancorp, Inc., Naples, 
Florida (“Bancorp”), the parent holding company for the Bank, and Williams 
took steps to ensure that the $15 million was promptly used to purchase the 
holding company stock; 

 
(d) In early July 2009, in response to inquiries from the Federal Reserve Bank of 

Atlanta (the “Reserve Bank”), Williams stated orally and in writing that the 
$15 million in capital referred to above was raised “without any financing” 
provided by the Bank.  This statement was false because Williams had 
information available to him to demonstrate that the Bank intended that the 
loan proceeds be used as the source of the stock purchase;  
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(e) As a result of the actions set forth in (a) through (d), above, the Bank, with 
Williams’ active participation, filed materially inaccurate regulatory reports, 
made false statements to the Federal Reserve, has suffered additional loan 
losses, and has failed to comply with provisions of an outstanding Written 
Agreement designed to require that the Bank properly address its asset quality 
problems.  These actions show that the management of the Bank would be 
improved without Williams’ service as a senior executive of the Bank. 

 
(emphasis added) 
 

85. In addition to calling for Williams’ dismissal from the Board of Directions and 

from all senior executive officer positions he held with the Company, based on the above-

mentioned facts, the Corrective Action Directive also called for Orion to take steps in order to 

become adequately capitalized, and enter into and close a contract to be acquired by a depository 

institution, thus putting the Company into receivership. 

86. On December 21, 2009, Plan Participants received a letter with their KSOP/401k 

statements for the third quarter, 2009 (the “12/21/09 Letter”), informing them that their shares of 

Orion stock were now worthless, and they had lost all, or close to all, of their life savings: 

As you know, Orion bank was taken over by the FDIC on November 13, 2009, 
and thus became insolvent on that date.  It is our belief that the insolvency of the 
Bank reduced the value of all Bank holding company stock, including the shares 
held by the KSOP, to zero.  The attached third quarter statement reflects that 
change in valuation… 
 
87. On April 17, 2010 an article published on naplesnews.com titled  “Records: CEO 

Jerry Williams, Dave Wannstedt, judges among failed Orion’s investors,” discussed the direct 

role that Williams’ played in the downfall of Orion: 

Records show that it appears mismanagement also could have played a role in the 
bank’s downfall.  Williams was ousted as the bank’s CEO days before regulators 
closed it.  He’s accused of lying to regulators and making the bank appear in 
better shape than it  was.  In June of last year, regulators allege that he illegally 
loaned about $60 million to “straw borrowers,” who were fronting for borrowers 
who already had hit their loan limit. 
 
They say he knew $15 million from those loans would be used to buy stock in the 
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bank’s parent company and he lied about it to regulators. 
 
According to regulators, the questionable loans also enabled the borrowers to buy 
“certain low-quality assets” from Orion.  The mystery borrowers never were 
identified. 
 
Daniel Buhs, president and CEO of Vanderbilt Bay Construction Inc. in Naples, 
owned 17,371 shares in Orion. 
 
“Jerry made some bad decisions in the last few years that took the bank down,” he 
said. 
 
* * * 
 
The bank chose to “do some very unwise loans with some pretty big numbers,” 
Buhs said. 
 
“I’m thoroughly disappointed, like all of us are. Jerry needs to be accountable for 
what he has done,” he said. 
 
88. The April 17, 2010 naplesnews.com article also discussed the reaction of 

investors to losing all of their savings in the Plan, and how Williams had falsely reassured them 

that Orion was doing well: 

“I had 10,186 shares and that was going to be my son’s college education 
money,” said Luc Christian Mazzini, one of the many disappointed investors from 
Naples.  “I originally invested with Orion Bank, which was called Gulf Coast 
National Bank, all the way back in 1996.” 
 
After Orion received a cease-and-desist order in September from regulators to 
address its “unsafe and unsound practices,” Mazzini, a dentist, said he was 
reassured by a bank executive that it was “no big deal.” 

 
* * * 
 
“I was hoping there might be a few bucks left for shareholders,” Schroeder said. 
“But it’s doubtful.” 

 
89. That same article also highlighted the fact that neither investors nor shareholders 

would likely ever be paid back, as there was barely enough money through the sale of Orion’s 

assets to cover debts to creditors, much less investors: 
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A trustee, Michael Polsky, has been appointed to liquidate Orion Bancorp’s 
assets. His Miami attorney, Robert Schatzman, said he doesn’t expect 
shareholders to get any money because there aren’t enough assets to sell to cover 
the millions owed to creditors. 
 
“Everybody who invested either through their pensions, or 401(k)s, or bought 
shares in the private marketplace in the holding company lost money,” he said. 
“That money will not be repaid.” 
 
“I can’t conceive of an opportunity that would provide for a distribution to 
shareholders,” Schatzman said. 
 
That’s disappointing news to investors – big and small. 
 
“I would like to get something. But I don’t think it’s going to happen,” said 
Leonard Simons, an early investor from Miami. 
 
Simons, 89, and his wife owned more than 8,000 shares in the holding company. 
Over the years, they acquired more stock when they received shares instead of 
dividends. 
 
The holding company’s books and records still are being analyzed in the hunt for 
assets. Those already identified include two bank buildings, a corporate jet, small 
investments in other companies and cash in several bank accounts, Schatzman 
said. 
 
“We don’t even think there is going to be enough assets to pay off the first layers 
of debt,” he said. 

 
90. Accordingly, as a result of the unsound, unethical and illegal course of conduct 

perpetrated during the Class Period by Defendant Williams, and in combination with the 

Individual Defendants’ breaches of fiduciary duties, the Plan Participants have lost their entire 

investment in the Plan.  The events that led to the downfall of Orion Bank were also analyzed in 

the Inspector General’s Review in much greater detail, as discussed below. 

E. The Inspector General’s Material Loss Review of Orion Bank 

104. On June 14, 2010, Inspector General Elizabeth A. Coleman of the Board of 

Governors of the Federal Reserve System sent the Review of Orion to the Honorable Daniel K. 

Tarullo, Chairman of the Committee on Supervisory and Regulatory Affairs of the Board of 
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Governors of the Federal Reserve System.  The Review contained very specific and detailed 

analysis of the causes of Orion’s failures and the corresponding roles of the Board of Directors 

and Williams.   

105. For example, when discussing causes of Orion’s failure, the Review states the 

following on page 10:  

Cause of the Failure  
 
Orion failed because its Board of Directors and management did not control the 
risks associated with rapid growth and an extremely high concentration in 
commercial real estate (CRE) and, in particular, acquisition, development, and 
construction (ADC) loans. Under the direction of the CEO, who had a dominant 
role in the bank and held a controlling interest in the parent bank holding 
company, Orion aggressively expanded its CRE and ADC loan portfolios in the 
south Florida market from 2004 through 2006. A subsequent rapid decline in the 
Florida real estate market led to deteriorating asset quality and significant losses, 
particularly in the ADC portfolio. Bank management failed to acknowledge the 
extent of the real estate market downturn and was slow in recognizing and 
mitigating credit risk exposure. Mounting loan losses eliminated the bank’s 
earnings, depleted capital, and ultimately led the State to close Orion and appoint 
the FDIC as receiver on November 13, 2009.  
 
Dominant CEO and Weak Board of Directors  
 
Orion’s Board of Directors consisted of five members—the CEO and four outside 
directors— which was the minimum number of directors required under federal 
and state statutes. Orion’s CEO owned 24 percent of the parent bank holding 
company’s stock, making him the largest shareholder. The CEO was the 
dominant force in establishing the bank’s strategic direction and overall risk 
profile, including day-to-day management. None of the outside directors had 
banking experience, and examiners noted that (1) the CEO “does not look to 
the directorate for support in managing the affairs of the bank,” and (2) the 
Board of Directors’ oversight was inadequate. 

 
(Emphasis added). 
 

106. On page 13, the Review discussed the failures of the Board of Directors and 

senior management in identifying problem loans and inadequate grading standards: 

Orion's Board of Directors and management failed to recognize the extent of the 
local real estate market downturn and were slow to identify problem loans. As a 
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result, examiners frequently disagreed with management’s loan grading decisions 
and downgraded a substantial number of loans, particularly in the ADC portfolio. 
Nevertheless, management did not strengthen its credit underwriting practices to 
account for the market downturn, and renewed or extended loans using the 
original terms despite clear declines in the value of underlying projects and 
deteriorating real estate market conditions. Examiners noted that many of these 
loans were kept current with bank funded interest reserves, so the level of past 
due loans was understated.8 

 
8 Lenders may establish an interest reserve account to periodically advance 
loan funds to pay interest charges on the outstanding balance of an ADC 
loan. The interest is capitalized and added to the loan balance. This 
practice can mask loans that would otherwise be reported as delinquent 
and erode collateral protection, increasing a lender's exposure to credit 
losses. 

 
107. On page 13, the Review further discussed the inadequacy of Orion’s 

allowances for loan and lease losses (“ALLL”): 

Loan Portfolio Losses Eroded Capital  
The declining local real estate market led to significant deterioration in Orion’s 
asset quality, particularly in ADC loans. The bank’s total classified assets 
increased 474 percent from $54 million in 2006, to $310 million in 2007. In 
addition, nonaccrual loans increased 2,659 percent throughout 2007, from $2.9 
million in the first quarter to $81 million by year-end.9

 
ADC loans represented 

approximately $74 million of the $81 million year-end nonaccrual total balance. 
Although the bank’s asset quality experienced significant deterioration, 
examiners noted that the level of classified assets, local economic deterioration, 
and high CRE concentration “were not met with any comparable increase in 
the bank’s ALLL [allowance for loan and lease losses].” 
 

9 Nonaccrual status means loans with overdue interest payments and 
uncertainty regarding collection of principal; no interest income is 
recognized on these loans for reporting purposes. 

 
(Emphasis Added).   
 

108. On page 14, the Review discussed Orion’s capital deficiencies in 2009: 
 
The bank was notified in August 2008 that it was no longer well capitalized. 
Orion was informed that it could not accept, renew, or roll over any brokered 
deposits. Subsequently, Orion received capital injections from the bank holding 
company that restored its well capitalized status. However, during a 2009 full 
scope examination, examiners noted that an additional $40.4 million of 
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provision expense was required for year-end 2008, which caused the bank to 
fall back to adequately capitalized in May 2009.  
 
In July 2009, Orion filed a regulatory report that showed the bank had returned to 
well capitalized. However, in August 2009, examiners analyzed the regulatory 
report and found that Orion made errors in calculations supporting the bank’s 
return to the well capitalized status. Accordingly, Orion filed an amended 
regulatory report in late August 2009, and on September 1, 2009, FRB Atlanta 
notified the bank that it was adequately capitalized. 

 
(Emphasis added). 
 

109. As the Review states on page 15, during the five years preceding the eventual 

failure of Orion in November of 2009, the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta (“FRB Atlanta”) and 

the State had conducted a total of six examinations of Orion.  In addition, the Review notes that 

three formal supervisory actions (the Written Agreement, the Cease and Desist Order, and a non-

consent PCA Directive) were also executed on the Company.  

110. The first full scope examination by FRB Atlanta occurred in November of 2005 

(the “2005 Exam”).  In discussing this examination, the Review discusses the dominant role of 

Defendant Williams, stating: “examiners noted that the CEO dominated the bank’s policies and 

had a firm control of the bank’s day-to-day operations.”   

111. The 2005 Exam also discussed Orion’s potential credit risk based on a large 

concentration of CRE loans: 

The examination report noted that Orion’s CRE concentration exposed the bank 
to a high degree of inherent credit risk and that well designed controls were 
necessary. Examiners recommended that Orion (1) perform stress testing of the 
entire loan portfolio; (2) establish CRE limits and sub-limits; (3) segment the 
ADC portfolio by markets; and (4) monitor speculative construction by borrower, 
product type, and location. 

 
112. In the full scope examination conducted by FRB Atlanta in December 2006 (the 

“2006 Exam”), the Review noted the following regarding the bank’s internal loan grading 

standards: 
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State examiners noted that the bank’s internal loan grading did not identify certain 
problem loans, and concluded that Orion’s loan review program was ineffective. 
Examiners stated that “the untimely identification of loan problems could expose 
the bank to additional credit losses.” In addition, examiners expressed concern 
that “appraisals made at the height of the real estate market in 2004 and 2005 may 
not represent the realistic fair value of the collateral today.” Furthermore, the 
examination report noted that Orion’s ALLL methodology should be reconsidered 
in light of the residential real estate market slowdown and the bank’s 
concentration in CRE loans. According to examiners, Orion’s ALLL may not be 
sufficient “should deterioration in the real estate market continue,” and the real 
estate market decline should be a critical factor in management’s assessment of its 
ALLL adequacy.  
 
The examination report indicated that management decisions continued to be 
heavily influenced by the CEO, who was involved in every aspect of the bank, 
including day-to-day management. However, contrary to the most recent FRB 
Atlanta examination, State examiners noted that Orion’s four outside directors 
seemed to offer little direction or supervision and that the Board of Directors’ 
decisions were dominated by the CEO, who appeared to view the Board as a 
hindrance more than anything else. 
 
113. On page 17 the Review goes further, and states that an FRB Atlanta official 

advised staff in a July 2007 email that Orion was on that official’s “top five lists of banks that 

caused ‘the most concern.’” 

114. According to the Review, the FRB Atlanta’s full scope examination in December 

of 2007 (the “2007 Exam”) discussed, among other things, Orion’s CAMELS1 rating, and found 

that “failure is a distinct possibility if the problems and weaknesses are not satisfactorily 

addressed and resolved.”  The 2007 Exam also contained the following findings by examiners, as 

described on page 18 of the Review: 

• The volume of examiner downgrades reflects ineffective loan grading and 
risk identification by management and suggests that additional 
unidentified credit risk is embedded in the remaining portfolio; 

 

                                                
1 The CAMELS acronym represents the following six components, each of which, along with an overall composite 
score, is assigned a rating of 1 through 5: Capital adequacy, Asset quality, Management practices, Earnings 
performance, L iquidity position, and Sensitivity to market risk.  A rating of 1 indicates the least regulatory concern, 
while a rating of 5 indicates the greatest regulatory concern. 
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• A number of problem loans continued to perform only because of 
payments from bank-funded interest reserves; 

 
• The ALLL methodology could not produce a reliable estimate of loss 

exposure in the loan portfolio; 
 

• Orion had appraisal deficiencies that were cause for significant regulatory 
concern; 

 
• Orion was not in compliance with the Interagency Appraisal and 

Evaluation Guidelines, in part because Orion had not established 
processes that would ensure appraisals and evaluations were reviewed by 
qualified individuals independent of the loan production process;  

 
• The Board of Directors and senior management did not properly identify, 

manage, and mitigate the risks inherent in the bank’s high concentrations 
in CRE and ADC loans; 

 
• Management failed to implement critical risk mitigation plans in a 

deteriorating real estate market;  
 

• Williams, as Orion’s CEO, had dominated the bank’s policies and 
operations and had an annual bonus tied to the bank’s earnings growth, 
which provided an incentive to delay recognition of problem credits 
[loans] and associated provisions. 

 
115. The full scope examination by the FRB Atlanta in October of 2008 (the “2008 

Exam”) further discussed Orion’s financial conditions as a result of its low asset and CAMELS 

ratings, as stated on page 19 of the Review: 

In October 2008, FRB Atlanta began a target examination that focused on asset 
quality. It resulted in another CAMELS composite 4 rating, with earnings and 
asset quality being downgraded to 5. Examiners characterized the bank’s financial 
condition as extremely poor and deteriorating, and stated that the Board of 
Directors and senior management “must do much more to recognize the extent of 
the bank’s problems and effect meaningful improvement.” Examiners noted that 
management had not adequately responded to required actions identified during 
the prior examination and that the bank was substantially noncompliant with the 
Written Agreement. 

 
116. Lastly, according to the Review, the  FRB Atlanta’s examination of Orion taken 

in January 2009 (the “2009 Exam”) contained the following findings: 
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• The Board of Directors and management had failed to fully comply with 
the Written Agreement; 

 
• Orion’s credit risk management practices were critically deficient; 

 
• Orion continued to experience asset quality problems because 

management failed to (1) take timely action to reduce CRE concentrations 
when market conditions began to weaken, (2) establish effective controls 
to identify problem loans, and (3) develop an adequate ALLL 
methodology; 

 
• Williams’ beliefs that the problems facing the bank were not as severe as 

those facing the industry were proven inaccurate; and 
 

• Orion’s failure to implement policies, practices, and procedures to resolve 
the problems facing the bank constituted an unsafe and unsound practice.   

 
117. The Inspector General’s report openly lays blame for Orion’s demise on the 

inadequacies and failures of the Board of Directors and executive management, particularly 

Defendant Williams.  These allegations are adequately summed up in the Review’s conclusion 

on page 21, stating (in relevant part): 

Orion failed because its Board of Directors and management did not control the 
risks associated with rapid growth and an extremely high concentration in CRE 
and, in particular, ADC loans. Under the direction of the CEO, who had a 
dominant role in the bank and held a controlling interest in the parent bank 
holding company, Orion aggressively expanded its CRE and ADC loan portfolios 
in the south Florida market from 2004 through 2006…Bank management failed 
to acknowledge the extent of the real estate market downturn and was slow in 
recognizing and mitigating credit risk exposure. Mounting loan losses 
eliminated the bank’s earnings, depleted capital, and ultimately led the State to 
close Orion and appoint the FDIC as receiver on November 13, 2009…Orion’s 
Board of Directors seemed to offer little direction or supervision, and that the 
CEO appeared to view the Board of Directors as a hindrance more than 
anything else. 

 
(Emphasis added). 
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VI.  CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

A. COUNT I 
 
Failure to Prudently and Loyally Manage Plan’s Investment in Orion Stock 
(Breaches of Fiduciary Duties in Violation of ERISA § 404, 29 U.S.C. § 1104) 
Against the Trustee Defendants) 

118. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the previous 

paragraphs of the Complaint as if fully set forth herein.  

119. At all relevant times, Defendants named in this Count acted as “fiduciaries” 

within the meaning of ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A), by exercising authority and 

control with respect to the management of the Plan and of the assets of the Plan.  

120. During the Class Period, Trustee Defendants knew or should have known that 

Orion stock was not a suitable and appropriate investment for the Plan because Orion was on the 

brink of collapse due to the Company’s undisclosed exposure to losses due to the deteriorating 

quality of its loan portfolio, the high-risk nature of its loans, and its failure to adequately account 

for those problems including by not having adequate loan provisions. 

121. Notwithstanding this knowledge of Orion’s impending collapse, Defendants 

named in this Count breached their fiduciary duties by, among other things, failing to review the 

appropriateness of Orion stock as an investment fund for the Plan, automatically investing 

Company matching contributions in the Company’s stock, acquiring shares of Orion stock at 

artificially inflated prices, and concentrating approximately 96% of the Plan’s assets in Orion 

stock despite the risks associated with such a concentration. 

122. Upon information and belief, Defendants named in this Count breached their duty 

to avoid conflicts of interest and to promptly resolve them by, among other things: failing to 

engage independent fiduciaries that could make independent judgments regarding the Plan’s 

investments in Orion stock; failing to notify appropriate federal agencies, including the United 
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States Department of Labor, of the facts and transactions which made Orion stock an unsuitable 

investment for the Plan; failing to take such other steps as were necessary to ensure that 

Participants’ interests were loyally and prudently served; and in each of these failures, by 

otherwise placing the Company’s or their own interests above those of the Participants.  

123. As a direct and proximate result of these breaches of fiduciary obligations as 

alleged, the Plan, and indirectly Plaintiffs and other Plan participants and beneficiaries, have lost 

millions of dollars. 

124. Pursuant to ERISA §§ 502(a)(2) and 409(a), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1132(a)(2) and 

1109(a), Defendants named in this Count are liable to restore the losses to the Plan caused by 

their breaches of fiduciary duties.  

B. COUNT II 
 
Breach of Duties of Loyalty and Prudence by Causing Plan to Invest in Orion 
Stock (Violation of ERISA § 404, 29 U.S.C. § 1104 by the Trustee 
Defendants) 

125. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the paragraphs before Count I of 

this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.  

126. At all relevant times, Trustee Defendants acted as fiduciaries within the meaning 

of ERISA §3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C.§1002(21)(A), by exercising authority and control with respect to 

the management of the Plan and the Plan’s assets. 

127.  Defendants, by their actions and omissions in authorizing or causing the Plan to 

invest in Orion stock, breached their duties of prudence and loyalty to the Plan under ERISA § 

404(a)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1).  

128. As a direct and proximate result of these breaches of duty, the Plan, and indirectly 

Plaintiffs and the Plan’s other participants and beneficiaries, lost millions of dollars.  Pursuant to 

ERISA §§ 502(a)(2) and 409(a), 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(2) and 1109(a), Defendants are liable to 
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restore all losses suffered by the Plan caused by their breaches of fiduciary duty in the selection 

of funds for the Plan and investment of Plan assets.  

C. COUNT III 
 
Failure to Provide Complete and Accurate Information to Participants and 
Beneficiaries (Breaches of Fiduciary Duties in Violation of ERISA § 404, 29 
U.S.C. § 1104 by the Trustee Defendants) 

129. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the paragraphs before Count I of 

this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

130. At all relevant times, Defendants acted as “fiduciaries” within the meaning of 

ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A), by exercising authority and control in the 

management of the Plan and of Plan assets.  

131. Because investment in the Plan was not diversified (despite the impending 

collapse of Orion), it carried an inherently high degree of risk.  This risk made Defendants’ duty 

to provide complete and accurate information particularly important for the Plan and 

investments of Plan assets in Orion stock.  

132. Defendants breached their duty to inform by failing to provide complete and 

accurate information regarding Orion stock, and the soundness of Orion stock and the Plan as a 

retirement investment.  

133. These actions and failures caused Plan participants and beneficiaries to make and 

maintain substantial investments in Orion stock in the Plan at a time when Defendants knew or 

should have known that Orion stock was not a prudent investment option for the Plan or Plan 

participants because of the Company’s impending collapse.  

134. As a direct and proximate result of these breaches of fiduciary duties alleged 

herein, the Plan, and indirectly Plaintiff and other participants and beneficiaries, have lost 

millions of dollars. 
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135. Pursuant to ERISA §§ 502(a)(2) and 409(a), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1132(a)(2) and 

1109(a), Defendants named in this Count are liable to restore the losses to the Plan caused by 

their breaches of their fiduciary duties.  

D. COUNT IV 
 
Failure to Monitor the Plan’s Fiduciaries (Breach of Fiduciary Duties in 
Violation of ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1) by the Director Defendants) 

136. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the paragraphs before Count I of 

this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

137. At all relevant times, the Director Defendants acted as “fiduciaries” within the 

meaning of ERISA § 3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. § 1002(21)(A) for the Plan because they were charged 

with, responsible for, and otherwise assumed the duty of, appointing, monitoring, and, when 

necessary, removing Plan fiduciaries, including the Trustee Defendants. 

138. The Director Defendants breached their fiduciary duties by failing to adequately 

monitor the Trustee Defendants.  These Defendants knew or should have known that the Trustee 

Defendants were imprudently allowing the Plan to offer Orion stock and investing plan assets in 

Orion stock when it was not prudent to do so because of the Company’s impending collapse.  

Despite this, they failed to take action to protect Plan participants from the failures of these other 

fiduciaries. 

139. These Defendant fiduciaries, in discharging their monitoring and oversight duties, 

were required to disclose to other fiduciaries directly involved in investment of Plan assets 

accurate information about the financial condition and practices of the Company.  By remaining 

silent and failing to provide such information to the other fiduciaries, these Defendants breached 

their monitoring duties under ERISA. 
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140. The Director Defendants also breached their monitoring duties by failing to 

remove fiduciaries who they knew or should have known were not qualified to loyally and 

prudently manage the Plan’s assets.  

141. As a direct and proximate result of these breaches of fiduciary duties alleged, the 

Plan, and indirectly Plaintiff and the Plan’s other participants and beneficiaries, have suffered 

losses of millions of dollars.  

142. Pursuant to ERISA §§ 502(a)(2) and 409(a), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1132(a)(2) and 

1109(a), Defendants named in this Count are liable to restore the losses to the Plan caused by the 

breaches of fiduciary duties by Defendants named in this Count.  

E. COUNT V 
 
Breach of Co-Fiduciary Duties (Breach of Co-Fiduciary Duties in Violation 
of ERISA § 405, 29 U.S.C. § 1105, by All Defendants) 

143. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in the paragraphs before Count I of 

this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

144. A fiduciary is liable not only for fiduciary breaches within the sphere of the 

fiduciary’s responsibility, but also as a co-fiduciary in certain circumstances.  ERISA § 405(a), 

29 U.S.C. § 1105(a), states, in relevant part, that:  

 
In addition to any liability which he may have under any other provision of this part, 
a fiduciary with respect to a plan shall be liable for a breach of fiduciary 
responsibility of another fiduciary with respect to the same plan in the following 
circumstances: 

(1) if he participates knowingly in, or knowingly undertakes to conceal, an act or 
omission of such other fiduciary, knowing such act or omission is a breach; or  

 
(2) if, by his failure to comply with section 404(a)(1) in the administration of his 

specific responsibilities which give rise to his status as a fiduciary, he has 
enabled such other fiduciary to commit a breach; or  
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(3) if he has knowledge of a breach by such other fiduciary, unless he makes 
reasonable efforts under the circumstances to remedy the breach.  

 
145. By virtue of all facts and events alleged herein, and at all relevant times, all 

Defendants, by failing to comply with their specific fiduciary responsibilities under ERISA § 

404(a), 29 U.S.C. §1104(a), enabled their co-fiduciaries to commit violations of ERISA and, 

with knowledge of such breaches, failed to make reasonable efforts to remedy the breaches.  

Accordingly, Defendants are each liable for the others’ violations pursuant to ERISA § 405(a)(2) 

and (3), 29 U.S.C. § 1105(a)(2) and (3). 

146. The Director Defendants are liable under § 405 because their fiduciary breaches 

in failing to appropriately monitor the fiduciaries they appointed enabled the Trustee Defendants 

to breach their duties under ERISA by, among other things, continually selecting Orion stock as 

an investment option for the Plan when it was imprudent or disloyal to do so due to the 

Company’s impending collapse. 

147. Further, all Defendants knew that the other defendants had breached their duties 

under § 404 by continuing to offer Orion stock as an investment option, and to direct and 

approve investment of matching contributions in Orion stock when it was imprudent, disloyal 

and contrary to ERISA to do so, yet they failed to make reasonable efforts to remedy the 

situation.  

148. As a result of their breaches of ERISA § 405, Defendants have caused the Plan to 

suffer financial losses for which they are jointly and severally liable, pursuant to § 409 of 

ERISA. 

VII.  DEFENDANTS HAVE NOT RESPONDED TO PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIM LETTER 

149. On January 20, 2010, Plaintiffs sent a letter to, among others, Orion, the Trustee 

Defendants, and the Director Defendants demanding a recovery of all Plan losses incurred as a 
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result of the conduct described above.  Defendants have not responded to this letter.  

Accordingly, Plaintiffs have exhausted any administrative remedies available to them. 

VIII.  CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

150. Plaintiffs bring this class action on behalf of a Class defined as: 

Participants in and beneficiaries of the Orion Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan 
(the “Plan”), excluding Defendants, whose accounts in the Plan were invested in 
Orion stock on or after January 1, 2006. 

 
151. Class certification is appropriate under Rule 23(b)(1)(A) & (B) and 23(b)(2) of 

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

152. As reported in Form 5550, the Annual Report of the Employee Benefit Plan, for 

the year ended December 31, 2007 filed on October 14, 2008, The Class consists of 285 

individuals with account balances, and is so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  

153. There are questions of law and fact common to the Class, which include:  

a. Whether all or some of Defendants are fiduciaries;  

b. Whether various of the Defendants breached their fiduciary obligations to the 

Plan and participants by causing the Plan to offer Orion stock as an investment 

option given that Defendants knew or should have known that, because of Orion’s 

undisclosed financial problems, purchases of Orion stock were being made at 

inflated prices;  

c. Whether various Defendants breached their fiduciary obligations to the Plan and 

participants by causing the Plan to make and maintain investments in Orion stock 

at a time as it was not prudent to do so;  
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d. Whether various Defendants failed to conduct a prudent investment selection 

process with respect to Orion stock to be offered by the Plan and instead selected 

Orion stock because of its benefits to Orion and its affiliates;  

e. Whether various Defendants breached their fiduciary obligations to the Plan and 

participants by providing incomplete and inaccurate information to Participants, 

and by preventing Participants from exercising “independent control” over 

investments in the Plan as a result;  

f. Whether the Director Defendants breached their fiduciary obligations to the Plan 

and Participants by failing to prudently monitor the Trustee Defendants, such that 

the interests of the Plan and Plan participants were not adequately protected and 

served;  

g. Whether all Defendants, by failing to comply with their specific fiduciary duties 

under ERISA § 404(a)(1), 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1), enabled and/or caused their co-

fiduciaries to violate of ERISA and, despite knowledge of such breaches, failed to 

make reasonable efforts to remedy them, and are each liable for the others’ 

violations pursuant to ERISA § 405(a), 29 U.S.C. § 1105(a); and 

h. Whether, as a result of fiduciary breaches by Defendants, the Plan, participants 

and beneficiaries have suffered losses.  

154. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the Class. 

155. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.  Plaintiffs 

have no interest that is antagonistic to or in conflict with the interest of the Class as a whole, and 

Plaintiffs have engaged competent counsel experienced in class actions and ERISA actions of 

this nature. 
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156. This action is properly maintainable as a class action for the following 

independent reasons and under these portions of Rule 23:  

a. Given ERISA’s imposition of a uniform standard of conduct on ERISA 

fiduciaries, prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Class 

would create the risk of inconsistent adjudications which would establish 

incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants with respect to their obligations 

under the Plan.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1)(A);  

b. The prosecution of separate actions by members of the Class would create a risk 

of adjudications for individual members of the Class which would, as a practical 

matter, be dispositive of the interests of other members not parties to the 

adjudications, or substantially impair or impede their ability to protect their 

interests. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1)(B);  

c. Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the 

Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive, declaratory, or other 

appropriate equitable relief with respect to the Class as a whole.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 

23(b)(2); and 

d. Questions of law and fact common to members of the Class predominate over any 

questions affecting only individual members, and the class action is superior to 

other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3).  

IX.  REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request: 

1. Certify this action as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23;  
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2. Declare that Defendants, and each of them, have breached their fiduciary duties to 

the Plan Participants and beneficiaries;  

3. Issue an order compelling Defendants to restore to the Plan all losses suffered by 

the Plan as a result of these breaches, including restoring the return on investments that the Plan, 

Plaintiffs, Participants and beneficiaries would have realized had Defendants discharged their 

duty of prudent and loyal investment of Plan assets;  

4. Order equitable restitution and other appropriate equitable monetary relief against 

Defendants;  

5. Enjoin Defendants, and each of them, from any further violations of ERISA 

fiduciary responsibilities, obligations and duties;  

6. Order Defendants or successor fiduciaries to allocate Plan recoveries to the 

accounts of all participants who had any portion of their account balances invested in Orion 

stock in proportion to the accounts’ losses attributable to the decline in Orion’s stock price;  

7. Award Plaintiff attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to ERISA § 502(g), 29 U.S.C. 

§ 1132(g) and/or the common fund doctrine; and  

8. Award such other relief as is equitable and just.  

X. JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
 

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case 2:10-cv-00339-JES-DNF   Document 34    Filed 08/11/10   Page 45 of 47 PageID 409



45 

Dated: August 11, 2010   By:_/s/_Christopher S. Jones   
  
SAXENA WHITE P.A 
Maya Saxena 
Joseph E. White III 
Christopher S. Jones 
Lester R. Hooker 
2424 North Federal Highway 
Suite 257 
Boca Raton, FL 33431 
Tel: 561.394.3399 
Fax: 561.394.3382 
 
McCABE RABIN, P.A.  
Ryon M. McCabe 
Centurion Tower  
1601 Forum Place, Suite 301 
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 
Tel:  561-659-7878 
Fax:  561-242-4848 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE   
 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the August 11, 2010, I electronically filed the foregoing 

with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system, which will send a notice of electronic filing 

to all registered users.  

 
 /s/ Christopher S. Jones  
Christopher S. Jones  
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